
 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

PLANNING & ZONING BOARD MEETING 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021 – 5:00 PM 

AGENDA 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

ANYONE WISHING TO ADDRESS THE PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD REGARDING ANY 

TOPIC ON THIS EVENING’S AGENDA IS REQUESTED TO COMPLETE A CARD AVAILABLE 

AT THE CLERK’S DESK. SPEAKERS ARE RESPECTFULLY REQUESTED TO LIMIT THEIR 

COMMENTS TO THREE (3) MINUTES. 

THE PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD PROHIBITS THE USE OF CELL PHONES AND PAGES 

WHICH EMIT AN AUDIBLE SOUND DURING ALL MEETINGS WITH THE EXCEPTION OF LAW 

ENFORCEMENT, FIRE AND RESCUE, OR HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONALS ON CALL. 

PERSONS IN VIOLATION WILL BE REQUESTED TO LEAVE THE MEETING. 

THIS WILL BE AN IN-PERSON MEETING. PLEASE FOLLOW SOCIAL DISTANCING 

PROTOCOLS 

ROLL CALL 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. Review and approval of minutes for the February 23, 2021 meeting. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

2. Future Land Use Amendment from Commercial High Intensity to Central Business District 

for property located at 200-206 Orange Avenue 

3. Rezoning from Gateway Corridor Commercial to Central Business District for property 

located at 200-206 Orange Avenue 

4. Review of an Annexation request for the Ayrshire Development for the Gustafson’s Cattle, 

Inc. approximately 560.52 acres on CR 15 A, 016515-000-00 

5. Review of a Future Land Use Amendment request from Rural Fringe / Industrial (County) to 

Residential Low Density (RLD) for the Ayrshire Development for the Gustafson’s Cattle, 

Inc.  approximately 560.52 acres on CR 15 A, 016515-000-00 

BOARD BUSINESS 

6. Online Comprehensive Map Update 

7. S&ME – Comprehensive Plan Update 

BOARD DISCUSSION / COMMENTS 

Page 1



April 27, 2021 Agenda Page 2 of 2 

 

 

STAFF COMMENTS 

ADJOURNMENT  

NEXT MEETING: TUESDAY, MAY 25, 2021 AT 5:00PM 

 

Minutes of the Planning & Zoning Board Meeting can be obtained from the City Clerk’s office. The 

Minutes are recorded, but are not transcribed verbatim.  

Persons requiring a verbatim transcript may make arrangements with the City Clerk to duplicate the 

recordings, or arrange to have a court reporter present at the meeting. The cost of duplication and/or court 

reporter will be at the expense of the requesting party. 

ADA NOTICE  

In accordance with Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with disabilities needing special 

accommodations to participate in this meeting should contact the City Clerk’s office no later than 5:00 

p.m. on the day prior to the meeting. 

EXPARTE COMMUNICATIONS 

Oral or written exchanges (sometimes referred to as lobbying or information gathering) between a Special 

Magistrate and others, including staff, where there is a substantive discussion regarding a quasi-judicial 

decision by the Special Magistrate. The exchanges must be disclosed by the Special Magistrate 

 

Page 2



 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

PLANNING & ZONING BOARD MEETING 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 23, 2021 – 5:00 PM 

MINUTES 

ROLL CALL 

The meeting was called to order at 5:00 p.m. 

PRESENT 
Chairman Henrietta Francis 

Vice Chair Gary Luke (virtual, Teams) 

Board Member Brian Cook 

Board Member Justin Hall 

Board Member Richard Hobbs 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. Review and approval of minutes for the January 26, 2021 meeting. 

Motion to approve the minutes of the January 26, 2021 Planning & Zoning Board meeting. 

Motion made by Board Member Hall, Seconded by Board Member Cook. Voting Yea: 

Chairman Francis, Vice Chairman Luke, Board Member Cook, Board Member Hall, and 

Board Member Hobbs. 

Motion passes 5-0. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

2. Review of Special Exception Application for Doxa Church to operate at 112 Magnolia Avenue 

 

Mike Daniels, Planning & Zoning Director, presented the application to the board.  The board 

inquired how this would affect alcohol sales in the area. Mr. Daniels explained the spacing 

requirements in the Central Business District (where this property is located) had been 

eliminated. 

 

Chairman Francis opened the public hearing. There being no comments, Chairman Francis 

closed the public hearing. 

Motion to approve the Special Exception for 112 Magnolia Ave, to allow a church to operate 

on said property, subject to the following conditions: 

1. Applicant must provide a parking agreement between Doxa Church and The Treasure 

Box. 

2. Applicant shall provide a minimum of two ADA compliant parking spaces.  The 

applicant shall provide a survey and site sketch showing parking in front re-striped to 

Page 3

Item #  1.



February 23, 2021 Minutes Page 2 of 2 

 

 

provide a minimum of two ADA compliant spaces and the restriping shall be completed 

prior to opening. 

3. Prior to occupancy, applicant must submit plans and complete work to bring the building 

up to current code for the new assembly use. Completion of work will allow issuance of 

a Certificate of Occupancy, which is required to use the space. 

Motion made by Vice Chairman Luke, Seconded by Board Member Cook. Voting Yea: 

Chairman Francis, Vice Chairman Luke, Board Member Cook, Board Member Hall, and 

Board Member Hobbs. 

Motion passes 5-0. 

BOARD BUSINESS 

3. INFORMATIONAL ONLY – Annexation of Parcel # 016515-000-00, located on County Road 15 

A 

Mr. Daniels provided the board information about the forthcoming project, explaining the 

process the applicant will go through. The Board inquired about utility capacity, planning for 

public facilities to serve the area, expected population increase, location of main entry, and 

alternatives to the linear facility request. 
4. INFORMATIONAL ONLY - Award of Bid LC 2020-20 for an Urban Planning or Interdisciplinary 

Firm to complete the 2045 Comprehensive Plan Update.  

Mr. Daniels discussed with the Board what had been done to date for the comprehensive plan 

update, including the selection of S&ME, the establishment of tasks for S&ME and staff, and 

the upcoming public workshop. Daniel Vallencourt, 5627 Millie Way, expressed interest in 

supporting the Comprehensive Plan process, his concern with vacant buildings around town, 

fear of development bypassing the City, and the success of his and his wife, Andrea’s, event 

venue, Clay Theatre.  

BOARD DISCUSSION / COMMENTS 

Chairman Francis commended staff for doing an excellent job. Board Member Cook suggested 

having a booth for the comprehensive plan at Food Truck Friday. Board Members Cook and Hall 

highlighted the significance of technology in the plan update process. 

ADJOURNMENT  

The meeting was adjourned at 6:00 p.m. 

 

 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 
 

 Henrietta Francis, Chairman 

  

Attest:  

 
 

Heather Glisson, Planning & Zoning Clerk  

 

Page 4

Item #  1.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  Planning & Zoning Commission MEETING DATE: April 27, 2021 

FROM: Michael Daniels, AICP, Planning & Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: Future Land Use Amendment from Commercial High Intensity to Central Business 

District for property located at 200-206 Orange Avenue 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: Janis Fleet, Fleet and Associates OWNER: 200 North Orange Avenue 

Holding LLC 

PROPERTY LOCATION: 200-206 N Orange Ave 

PARCEL NUMBER: 017301-000-00 

FILE NUMBER: 202100023 & 202100224 

CURRENT ZONING:  GCC – Gateway Corridor Commercial  

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: CHI – Commercial High Intensity 

SURROUNDING LAND USE 

NORTH: FLU: CHI 

Z: CBD 

Use: Retail 

SOUTH: FLU: CHI/RMD 

Z: GCC/INS 

Use: Undeveloped 

EAST: FLU: RMD 

Z: R-2 

Use: Residential 

WEST: FLU: CHI 

Z: GCC 

Use: Retail  

BACKGROUND 

The applicant has applied for a Future Land Use Map Amendment for the subject property from 

Commercial High Intensity to a Central Business District.  The purpose of the request is to allow for 

additional development in close proximity to US 17 that is consistent with the development form within 

the Central Business District. 

The current Commercial High Intensity Future Land Use District is guided for a wide array of commercial 

uses, such as hotels, motels, automobile sales, service and repair, housing above businesses, churches and 

others. The maximum Floor Area Ratio is .40  

 

Page 5

Item #  2.



The proposed Central Business District is guided by predominantly retail and service establishments 

consistent with the redevelopment of the downtown area.  The maximum Floor Area Ratio is 2.0.    

 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

200-206 S Orange Ave is a developed commercial property on 1.26 acres. There is an existing structure 

on the property with 19,819 square feet. It currently contains two suites occupied by Dollar Tree and 

Green Cove Dental and two vacant suites (one at each end of the plaza).  There are approximately 64 

parking spaces available. There are two monument signs along Orange Avenue.  The site has access to 

Ferris Street to the north and Bay Street to the south.  The property also has a full access point on US 17.   

Figure 1. Existing Structure (Google Streetview, Oct. 2019) 

 

Figure 2. Aerial Map 

 

Page 6

Item #  2.



Table 1. FLUM Designation Comparison  

 Existing Proposed 

FLUM District Commercial High Intensity (CHI) Central Business District (CBD) 

Max. Floor Area Ratio 0.40 2.0 

Typical Uses Commercial uses, such as hotels, 

motels, automobile sales, service and 

repair, housing above businesses, 

churches and others 

Retail and service establishments 

consistent with the redevelopment of 

the downtown area. 

NEEDS ANALYSIS  

Per Chapter 163.3177, Florida Statutes, need shall be based upon the amount of land designated for future 

uses and shall:  

1) Provide a balance of uses that foster vibrant, viable communities and economic opportunities and 

address outdated development patterns, such as antiquated subdivisions; and,  

2) Allow the operation of real estate markets to provide adequate choices for residents and business, with 

the amount of land designated for future use not limited solely by the projected population. The minimum 

amount of land use required to accommodate at least a 10-year planning period must be included in the 

comprehensive plan.  

Comment: City Council has expressed interest in growing the downtown area and providing additional 

opportunities for businesses therein. Amending the land use of this property will increase opportunities 

for new businesses to set up within Green Cove Springs Downtown, revitalize the property with proposed 

redevelopment, as well as update the development pattern. This request supports growing demand for 

commercial space and will increase the variety of spaces available. 

URBAN SPRAWL ANALYSIS  

Section 163.3177, Florida Statutes, requires that any amendment to the Future Land Use Element to 

discourage the proliferation of urban sprawl. Section 163.3177(6)(a)9.a., Florida Statutes, identifies 13 

primary urban sprawl indicators and states that, “[t]he evaluation of the presence of these indicators shall 

consist of an analysis of the plan or plan amendment within the context of features and characteristics 

unique to each locality…”   

An evaluation of each primary indicator is provided below.   

(I) Promotes, allows, or designates for development substantial areas of the jurisdiction to develop as low-

intensity, low-density, or single-use development or uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed amendment will revise the FLUM designation from CHI to CBD.  

By revising the Future Land Use designation to CBD, the property will be able to maintain its existing 

structure and add more commercial square footage to the site.  This will allow for higher density of 

development and a more urban type of development in the core area of the City that has a high demand 

for additional commercial spaces.   

(II) Promotes, allows, or designates significant amounts of urban development to occur in rural areas at 

substantial distances from existing urban areas while not using undeveloped lands that are available and 

suitable for development.  

Page 7

Item #  2.



Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within the urban core area of Green Cove Springs and 

adds to the existing development in the area which is suitable for developing, thereby reducing 

development pressure in rural and unincorporated areas.   

(III) Promotes, allows, or designates urban development in radial, strip, isolated, or ribbon patterns 

generally emanating from existing urban developments.   

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed CBD Future Land Use designation is compatible with the 

surrounding development. 

(IV) Fails to adequately protect and conserve natural resources, such as wetlands, floodplains, native 

vegetation, environmentally sensitive areas, natural groundwater aquifer recharge areas, lakes, rivers, 

shorelines, beaches, bays, estuarine systems, and other significant natural systems.  

Evaluation & Findings: The site is not located within a floodplain and does not have significant native 

vegetation, environmentally sensitive areas, natural groundwater aquifer recharge areas, lakes, shorelines, 

beaches, bays, estuarine systems, and other significant natural systems.  

(V) Fails to adequately protect adjacent agricultural areas and activities, including silviculture, active 

agricultural and silvicultural activities, passive agricultural activities, and dormant, unique, and prime 

farmlands and soils.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding commercial 

development. There are no adjacent agricultural areas and activities.  

(VI) Fails to maximize use of existing public facilities and services.  

Evaluation & Findings: With the project site being located within an area with existing development, the 

proposed development will utilize existing public facilities and services. 

(VII) Fails to maximize use of future public facilities and services.  

Evaluation & Findings: Any future improvements to the City’s public facilities and services will be 

utilized by the project site. 

(VIII) Allows for land use patterns or timing which disproportionately increase the cost in time, money, 

and energy of providing and maintaining facilities and services, including roads, potable water, sanitary 

sewer, stormwater management, law enforcement, education, health care, fire and emergency response, 

and general government.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an existing commercial area with existing 

public facilities and services. The proposed development will utilize existing public facilities and services 

and will not increase the time, money, and energy for providing and maintaining these facilities. 

(IX) Fails to provide a clear separation between rural and urban uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The site is located within an urban area and is not adjacent to any rural zoned 

properties. 

(X) Discourages or inhibits infill development or the redevelopment of existing neighborhoods and 

communities.  

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed application will allow infill development on a developed site. 

(XI) Fails to encourage a functional mix of uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an existing commercial area and will allow for 

a mix of commercial uses. 

Page 8

Item #  2.



(XII) Results in poor accessibility among linked or related land uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site has three existing ingress/egress points. Accessibility to linked 

or related land uses will not be diminished. 

(XIII) Results in the loss of significant amounts of functional open space.  

Evaluation & Findings: Additional proposed development will not reduce functional open space.  

In addition to the preceding urban sprawl indicators, Florida Statutes Section 163.3177 also establishes 

eight (8) “Urban Form” criteria. An amendment to the Future Land Use Map is presumed to not be 

considered urban sprawl if it meets four (4) of the (8) urban form criteria. These urban form criteria, and 

an evaluation of each as each may relate to this application, are provided below. The applicant has 

provided an analysis of the application’s consistency with Section 163.3177 within the application 

materials, and contends that the proposed amendment will not encourage urban sprawl by showing it meets 

four of the eight urban form criteria.   

1. Directs or locates economic growth and associated land development to geographic areas of the 

community in a manner that does not have an adverse impact on and protects natural resources and 

ecosystems.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within existing commercial development where 

development will occur in developed areas as opposed to undeveloped areas. The proposed development 

directs the growth within the urban area.  

2. Promotes the efficient and cost-effective provision or extension of public infrastructure and services.  

Evaluation & Findings: This application, as well as the companion rezoning application, will result in a 

higher density commercial development utilizing existing public infrastructure and existing services. 

3. Promotes walkable and connected communities and provides for compact development and a mix of 

uses at densities and intensities that will support a range of housing choices and a multimodal 

transportation system, including pedestrian, bicycle, and transit, if available.  

Evaluation & Findings: This application and the companion rezoning application will allow for higher 

density commercial development, allowing for a more urban type of development in the downtown area. 

It will increase the walkability of the downtown area through redesign of the sidewalk and landscaping, 

as well as through active building edges along Orange Avenue, which will increase safety and vibrancy 

of the area. 

4. Promotes conservation of water and energy.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding commercial 

development. Development in core urban areas reduces the pressure to develop in areas further outside of 

the urban areas. 

5. Preserves agricultural areas and activities, including silviculture, and dormant, unique, and prime 

farmlands and soils.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding development. 

There are no adjacent agricultural areas and activities.  Development in core urban areas reduces the 

pressure to develop in agricultural areas. 

6. Preserves open space and natural lands and provides for public open space and recreation needs.  

Evaluation & Findings: N/A   

Page 9

Item #  2.



7. Creates a balance of land uses based upon demands of the residential population for the nonresidential 

needs of an area.  

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed site is located within close proximity to a variety of nonresidential 

uses. The proposed development will bring new businesses into this mixed-use, urban area, providing a 

balance of land uses to the area. 

8. Provides uses, densities, and intensities of use and urban form that would remediate an existing or 

planned development pattern in the vicinity that constitutes sprawl or if it provides for an innovative 

development pattern such as transit-oriented developments or new towns as defined in s. 163.3164.  

Evaluation & Findings: N/A   

 

CONSISTENCY WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

The following Goals, Objectives, and Policies (GOPs) support the proposed amendment to the Future 

Land Use Map of the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan: 

FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT 

Goal 1: To develop and maintain land use programs and activities to provide for the most appropriate use 

of the land and direct growth to suitable areas while protecting the public, health, safety and welfare. 

Policy 1.3.4: To promote redevelopment, the City shall allow higher densities and structures up to five (5) 

stories high in appropriate areas. 

TRANSPORTATION ELEMENT 

Objective 2.8 Site Development Traffic Circulation: The City shall require that all major developments 

and planned unit developments provide a circulation system which: provides adequate access to the major 

roadway network; provides for sound design of local and collector streets within such development…. 

SANITARY SEWER, SOLID WASTE, DRAINAGE, POTABLE WATER, AND AQUIFER 

RECHARGE ELEMENT 

Objective 4.6: Future development shall be required to connect with central sewer and water systems and 

provide drainage facilities which maximize the use of existing facilities and discourage urban sprawl. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 10

Item #  2.



PUBLIC FACILITIES IMPACT  

Traffic Impacts 

Land Use1 
Square Feet 

Daily PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips 

Maximum Development 
Potential Based on  
Existing FLU  
 

General Commercial    
(ITE 820) 

21,954 42.94 2,535 3.37 74 

Total - - 144 - 11 

 

Land Use1 
Square Feet 

Daily PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips 

Proposed 

Residential Condo/TH  
(ITE 820) 

109,771 42.94 7,212 3.37 677 

Total - - 174 - 16 

1. Source: Institute of Transportation Engineers: Trip Generation Manual 9th Edition 

 

Conclusion: The proposed maximum development within the CBD Future Land Use Designation on 

the ±1.26-acre site would result in a potential net increase of over 4,500 Annual Average Daily Trips 

(AADT). 

 

The full access point on US 17 does not meet FDOT spacing requirements.  FDOT will review the access 

point as part of a redevelopment project.  Due to its spacing from the signalized intersection at Ferris 

Street and the unsignalized full intersection at Bay St, this access point is a safety concern and most 

likely shall be removed as a part of a redevelopment project.   

 

All development shall comply with FDOT site triangle requirements to ensure visibility for turning 

movements.   

 

Potable Water & Sanitary Sewer Impacts 

Water and Sewer impact would be determined by staff at the time development plans are brought forth, 

as impact for commercial development is based on usage, which is more difficult to estimate than it is 

for residential development, where there is an average per person to use for calculations. 

 

For the existing spaces in the plaza, the following are average monthly water / wastewater consumption 

values in gallons: 

- 200-A S Orange Ave, Vacant: 4 (2017: 7,958) 

- 200-B S Orange Ave, Green Cove Dental: 446 

- 204 S Orange Ave, Dollar Tree:  44,048 

- 206 S Orange Ave, Green Cove Kitchen: 7,932  

 

Conclusion: The City of Green Cove Springs has available capacity to meet demands from new 

development and does not anticipate this proposed future land use amendment or rezoning will exceed 

the City’s adopted LOS or permitted capacity 

Page 11

Item #  2.



 

Solid Waste Impacts 

The City of Green Cove Springs’ solid waste is disposed of at the Rosemary Hill Solid Waste 

Management Facility operated by Clay County.  Per the Clay County Comprehensive Plan, a minimum 

of three (3) years capacity shall be maintained at the County’s solid waste management facility. For 

commercial developments, the City does not provide Curbside Service; commercial locations must 

instead contract with an approved franchisee for containerized collection. 

 

Conclusion:  The proposed future land use amendment and rezoning are not expected to negatively 

impact the City’s adopted LOS or exceed the County solid waste management facility’s capacity. 

 

STAFF COMMENTS  

Staff informed the applicant of concerns related to parking and visibility when turning off of Ferris or Bay 

Street onto Orange Avenue, and Staff suggested changes to the conceptual plan for these concerns.  

Attachments include: 

1. FLUM Application 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of the future land use amendment and rezoning. 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: (Future Land Use Amendment) 

Motion to recommend to City Council the approval of Ordinance O-07-2021, to amend the Future Land 

Use of the property described therein from Commercial High Intensity to Central Business District. 

 

 

Page 12

Item #  2.



Page 13

Item #  2.



Page 14

Item #  2.



Page 15

Item #  2.



Page 16

Item #  2.



Page 17

Item #  2.



Page 18

Item #  2.



Page 19

Item #  2.



Page 20

Item #  2.



Page 21

Item #  2.



Page 22

Item #  2.



Page 23

Item #  2.



Page 24

Item #  2.



Page 25

Item #  2.



Page 26

Item #  2.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  Planning & Zoning Commission MEETING DATE: April 27, 2021 

FROM: Michael Daniels, AICP, Planning & Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: Rezoning from Gateway Corridor Commercial to Central Business District for property 

located at 200-206 Orange Avenue 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: Janis Fleet, Fleet and Associates OWNER: 200 North Orange Avenue 

Holding LLC 

PROPERTY LOCATION: 200-206 N Orange Ave 

PARCEL NUMBER: 017301-000-00 

FILE NUMBER: 202100023 & 202100224 

CURRENT ZONING:  GCC – Gateway Corridor Commercial  

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: CHI – Commercial High Intensity 

SURROUNDING LAND USE 

NORTH: FLU: CHI 

Z: CBD 

Use: Retail 

SOUTH: FLU: CHI/RMD 

Z: GCC/INS 

Use: Undeveloped 

EAST: FLU: RMD 

Z: R-2 

Use: Residential 

WEST: FLU: CHI 

Z: GCC 

Use: Retail  

BACKGROUND 

The applicant has applied for a Zoning Change for the subject property from Gateway Corridor 

Commercial to Central Business District.  The purpose of the request is to allow for additional 

development in close proximity to US 17 that is consistent with development form within the Central 

Business District. 

The current zoning Gateway Corridor Commercial is intended for all property located in the gateway 

corridor and designated as CHI (commercial high intensity) and INS (institutional) on the future land 

use map.  Allowed uses include commercial uses, such as hotels, motels, automobile sales, service and 

repair, housing above businesses, churches and others.  The allowed uses are predominantly commercial 

and retail uses.   

Page 27

Item #  3.



The proposed Central Business District is guided predominantly for retail and service establishments 

consistent with the redevelopment of the downtown area.   

 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

200-206 S Orange Ave is a developed commercial property on 1.26 acres. There is an existing structure 

on the property with 19,819 square feet. It currently contains two suites occupied by Dollar Tree and 

Green Cove Dental and two vacant suites (one at each end of the plaza).  There are approximately 64 

parking spaces available. There are two monument signs along Orange Avenue.  The site has access to 

Ferris Street to the north and Bay Street to the south.  The property also has a full access point on US 17.   

Figure 1. Existing Structure (Google Streetview, Oct. 2019) 

 

Figure 2. Aerial Map 

 

Page 28

Item #  3.



Table 1. FLUM Designation Comparison  

 Existing Proposed 

FLUM District Commercial High Intensity (CHI) Central Business District (CBD) 

Max. Floor Area Ratio 0.40 2.0 

Typical Uses Commercial uses, such as hotels, 

motels, automobile sales, service and 

repair, housing above businesses, 

churches and others 

Retail and service establishments 

consistent with the redevelopment of 

the downtown area. 

Table 2. Zoning District Comparison 

 Gateway Corridor Commercial  Central Business District 

Front Setback 10 feet Continuity of Front Alignment 

Rear Setback 10 feet None 

Side Setback 10 feet None 

Maximum Structure 

Height 

54 feet; up to 70 feet with tiering Conform to density requirements of 

adjacent structures  

Maximum # of Stories 4 Same as above. 

Parking Requirement 1/333 sqft of non-storage floor 

area 

Adhere to Sec. 113-157 or  alternatively 

comply per Sec. 117-447(b). 

Table 3. Parking Requirements 

 Existing 

Zoning 

(GCC) 

Proposed 

Zoning 

(CBD) 

Total Square Footage 19,819 sqft 19,819 sqft 

Required # of Spaces 60 78 

Existing # of Spaces 64 64* 

*Does not include parking spaces shown in the rear of the building on the conceptual plan, because those spaces are in the right-of-way, 

which is not allowed. 

 

 

 

Page 29

Item #  3.

https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADECO_CH113DEST_ARTIIIOREPALO_S113-157NUPASPRE
https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADECO_CH117LAUSRE_ARTVIIICEBUDI_S117-447PA


CONSISTENCY WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

The following Goals, Objectives, and Policies (GOPs) support the proposed amendment to the Future 

Land Use Map of the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan: 

FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT 

Goal 1: To develop and maintain land use programs and activities to provide for the most appropriate use 

of the land and direct growth to suitable areas while protecting the public, health, safety and welfare. 

Policy 1.3.4: To promote redevelopment, the City shall allow higher densities and structures up to five (5) 

stories high in appropriate areas. 

TRANSPORTATION ELEMENT 

Objective 2.8 Site Development Traffic Circulation: The City shall require that all major developments 

and planned unit developments provide a circulation system which: provides adequate access to the major 

roadway network; provides for sound design of local and collector streets within such development…. 

SANITARY SEWER, SOLID WASTE, DRAINAGE, POTABLE WATER, AND AQUIFER 

RECHARGE ELEMENT 

Objective 4.6: Future development shall be required to connect with central sewer and water systems and 

provide drainage facilities which maximize the use of existing facilities and discourage urban sprawl. 

 

PUBLIC FACILITIES IMPACT  

Traffic Impacts 

Land Use1 
Square Feet 

Daily PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips 

Maximum Development 
Potential Based on  
Existing FLU  
 

General Commercial    
(ITE 820) 

21,954 42.94 2,535 3.37 74 

 

Land Use1 
Square Feet 

Daily PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips 

Proposed 

Residential Condo/TH  
(ITE 820) 

109,771 42.94 7,212 3.37 677 

1. Source: Institute of Transportation Engineers: Trip Generation Manual 9th Edition 

 

Conclusion: The proposed maximum development within the CBD Future Land Use Designation on 

the ±1.26-acre site would result in a potential net increase of over 4,500 Annual Average Daily Trips 

(AADT). 

 

The full access point on US 17 does not meet FDOT spacing requirements.  FDOT will review the access 

point as part of a redevelopment project.  Due to its spacing from the signalized intersection at Ferris 

Street and the unsignalized full intersection at Bay St, this access point is a safety concern and most 

likely shall be removed as a part of a redevelopment project.   

Page 30

Item #  3.



 

All development shall comply with FDOT site triangle requirements to ensure visibility for turning 

movements.   

 

Potable Water & Sanitary Sewer Impacts 

Water and Sewer impact would be determined by staff at the time development plans are brought forth, 

as impact for commercial development is based on usage, which is more difficult to estimate than it is 

for residential development, where there is an average per person to use for calculations. 

 

For the existing spaces in the plaza, the following are average monthly water / wastewater consumption 

values in gallons: 

- 200-A S Orange Ave, Vacant: 4 (2017: 7,958) 

- 200-B S Orange Ave, Green Cove Dental: 446 

- 204 S Orange Ave, Dollar Tree:  44,048 

- 206 S Orange Ave, Green Cove Kitchen: 7,932  

 

Conclusion: The City of Green Cove Springs has available capacity to meet demands from new 

development and does not anticipate this proposed future land use amendment or rezoning will exceed 

the City’s adopted LOS or permitted capacity 

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

The City of Green Cove Springs’ solid waste is disposed of at the Rosemary Hill Solid Waste 

Management Facility operated by Clay County.  Per the Clay County Comprehensive Plan, a minimum 

of three (3) years capacity shall be maintained at the County’s solid waste management facility. For 

commercial developments, the City does not provide Curbside Service; commercial locations must 

instead contract with an approved franchisee for containerized collection. 

 

Conclusion:  The proposed future land use amendment and rezoning are not expected to negatively 

impact the City’s adopted LOS or exceed the County solid waste management facility’s capacity. 

STAFF COMMENTS  

Redeveloping the property in conformance with the requirements of the Central Business District will be 

an opportunity to improve the built environment in the downtown core.  There are development 

requirements that will have to be met.  Staff informed the applicant that redevelopment will be required 

to comply with all of the requirements of the Land Development Regulations.  Some of the key issues of 

that will need to be addressed include: 

 Parking requirements shall comply with Sec. 113-157 or provide an alternative method of 

compliance pursuant to Sec. 117-447(b). Parking shown on the conceptual plan as in the right-of-

way is not permitted.  

 Development plans must also comply with Sec. 113-244 regarding landscaping adjacent to US 

17.    

 All buildings shall comply with sight triangle requirements of FDOT to ensure safe visibility for 

all motorists and non-motorists. 

 Driveway locations on US 17 shall be reviewed by FDOT for site redevelopment. 

 Dumpster location shall comply with City code requirements.    

 

Page 31

Item #  3.



Approval of the future land use amendment and rezoning would not constitute nor guarantee approval 

of a site development plan. 

Attachments include: 

1. Rezoning Application  

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of the rezoning request. 

RECOMMENDED MOTIONS: (Rezoning) 

Motion to recommend to City Council the approval of Ordinance O-08-2021, to amend the Zoning of the 

property described therein from Gateway Corridor Commercial to Central Business District. 

 

 

Page 32

Item #  3.



Page 33

Item #  3.



Page 34

Item #  3.



Page 35

Item #  3.



Page 36

Item #  3.



Page 37

Item #  3.



Page 38

Item #  3.



Page 39

Item #  3.



Page 40

Item #  3.



Page 41

Item #  3.



Page 42

Item #  3.



Page 43

Item #  3.



Page 44

Item #  3.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  Planning and Zoning Commission MEETING DATE: April 27, 2021 

FROM: Michael Daniels, AICP, Planning & Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: Review of an Annexation request for the Ayrshire Development for the Gustafson’s 

Cattle, Inc. approximately 560.52 acres on CR 15 A, 016515-000-00 

 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: Ellen Avery-Smith, Esq. of Rogers 

Tower, PA 
OWNER: Gustafson’s Cattle, Inc. 

PROPERTY LOCATION: CR 15 A 

PARCEL NUMBER: 016515-000-00 

FILE NUMBER: 202001172 

CURRENT ZONING:  Agriculture (County) / Industrial Select (County) 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Rural Fringe (County) / Industrial (County) 

SURROUNDING LAND USE 

NORTH: FLU: Recreation 

Z: Recreation 

Use: Undeveloped 

SOUTH: FLU: Industrial (County) 

Z: Heavy Industrial (County) 

Use: Industrial / Undeveloped  

EAST: FLU: Industrial (County) 

Z: Heavy Industrial (County) 

Use: Industrial  

WEST: FLU: Rural 

Residential/Commercial/Agriculture 

(County) 

Z: Agricultural Residential/Commercial 

(County) 

Use: Single Family Homes, Commercial, 

Undeveloped 

BACKGROUND 

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION: The applicant, Ellen Avery Smith Esq, of Rogers Tower PA, has 

submitted an annexation request for 560.52 acres on behalf of her client, DR Horton, as part of their 

contractual agreement to purchase the property from the current property owner Gustafson’s Cattle Inc.  

Page 45

Item #  4.



The property is located on the east side of CR 15A, west of the railroad tracks, south of Green Cove 

Avenue and north of Jersey Avenue.        

The site is located within the City’s Electric Service Boundary and will be served by the City’s electric 

and sanitation departments and by the Clay County Utility Authority (CCUA) for water and sewer.    

The property is a portion of the land that was targeted by the City for Annexation as part of the 2016 

Annexation Report that was reviewed by the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity and approved 

by the City Council. 

 

 

Statutory Requirements for Voluntary Annexation as set forth in State Statute FS 171.044 

1) The owner or owners of real property in an unincorporated area of a county which is contiguous 

to a municipality and reasonably compact may petition the governing body of said municipality that said 

property be annexed to the municipality. 

The property owner, Gustafson’s Cattle, Inc. submitted a revised annexation petition on March 23, 

2021 for the subject property. 

 

Page 46

Item #  4.



(2) Upon determination by the governing body of the municipality that the petition bears the 

signatures of all owners of property in the area proposed to be annexed, the governing body may, at any 

regular meeting, adopt a nonemergency ordinance to annex said property and redefine the boundary 

lines of the municipality to include said property. Said ordinance shall be passed after notice of the 

annexation has been published at least once each week for 2 consecutive weeks in some newspaper in 

such city or town. 

 

Notice to Clay Today has been provided on April 22 and shall be provided on April 29th.    

In addition (not a statutory or city requirement), notice has been provided to all property owners 

within 300’ of the subject property.   

 

(3) An ordinance adopted under this section shall be filed with the clerk of the circuit court and the 

chief administrative officer of the county in which the municipality is located and with the Department 

of State within 7 days after the adoption of such ordinance. The ordinance must include a map which 

clearly shows the annexed area and a complete legal description of that area by metes and bounds. 

 

(4) The method of annexation provided by this section shall be supplemental to any other procedure 

provided by general or special law, except that this section shall not apply to municipalities in counties 

with charters which provide for an exclusive method of municipal annexation. 

Pursuant to research by our legal consultant citing a 1978 Florida Attorney General Report (78-

121) and  additional legal case law research, in addition to the requirements set forth in FS 

171.044, voluntary annexations are required to be contiguous and reasonably compact as defined 

by statute which are provided below: 

 “Contiguous” means that a substantial part of a boundary of the territory sought to be annexed by 

a municipality is coterminous with a part of the boundary of the municipality. The separation of the 

territory sought to be annexed from the annexing municipality by a publicly owned county park; a 

right-of-way for a highway, road, railroad, canal, or utility; or a body of water, watercourse, or 

other minor geographical division of a similar nature, running parallel with and between the 

territory sought to be annexed and the annexing municipality, shall not prevent annexation under 

this act, provided the presence of such a division does not, as a practical matter, prevent the 

territory sought to be annexed and the annexing municipality from becoming a unified whole with 

respect to municipal services or prevent their inhabitants from fully associating and trading with 

each other, socially and economically. However, nothing herein shall be construed to allow local 

rights-of-way, utility easements, railroad rights-of-way, or like entities to be annexed in a corridor 

fashion to gain contiguity; and when any provision or provisions of special law or laws prohibit the 

annexation of territory that is separated from the annexing municipality by a body of water or 

watercourse, then that law shall prevent annexation under this act. 

 

Page 47

Item #  4.



Approximately 80% of the northern boundary of the property that is adjacent to the City is 

proposed to be annexed.  

 

“Compactness” means concentration of a piece of property in a single area and precludes any 

action which would create enclaves, pockets, or finger areas in serpentine patterns. Any annexation 

proceeding in any county in the state shall be designed in such a manner as to ensure that the area 

will be reasonably compact. 

Annexation of this property does not create an enclave, pockets or finger areas in serpentine 

patterns. 

(5) Land shall not be annexed through voluntary annexation when such annexation results in the 

creation of enclaves. 

Pursuant to FS 171.031: 

 

              (13) “Enclave” means: 

                   (a) Any unincorporated improved or developed area that is enclosed within and bounded 

on all                      sides by a single municipality; or 

          (b) Any unincorporated improved or developed area that is enclosed within and 

bounded by a single municipality and a natural or manmade obstacle that allows the 

passage of vehicular traffic 

The property is adjacent to the City to the north for approximately 3,000 feet and does not 

surround adjacent unincorporated property within the City limits.   

 

  (6) Not fewer than 10 days prior to publishing or posting the ordinance notice required under 

subsection (2), the governing body of the municipality must provide a copy of the notice, via certified 

mail, to the board of the county commissioners of the county wherein the municipality is located. The 

notice provision provided in this subsection may be the basis for a cause of action invalidating the 

annexation. 

A letter of the ordinance notice was provided to the Clay County Board of County Commissioners  

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of the proposed annexation.   

 

 

 

 

Page 48

Item #  4.



 

CITY OF  

GREEN COVE SPRINGS 
 
 

 

 

  

ANNEXATION REPORT 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

January 10, 2017 

Page 49

Item #  4.



1 

ANNEXATION REPORT 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS 

 

The City of Green Cove Springs is proposing to annex land that is located south, north, and east of 

the existing corporate limits of the City.  This annexation would eliminate some existing enclaves 

that were created by previous annexation and are logical extensions of the existing city limits.  The 

majority of the lands proposed for annexation are included in the City’s water and sewer service area. 

The area to be annexed meets the criteria of Chapter 171.043, Florida Statutes.  The land is 

contiguous to the existing corporate limits and most of the land to be annexed is developed for urban 

purposes as defined by Chapter 171.043, Florida Statutes. 

 

Exhibit #1 provides a fiscal impact statement on the proposed annexation areas. 

 

 CHARACTER OF THE LAND TO BE ANNEXED 

 

As shown on the maps in this report, the land proposed for annexation is contiguous to the existing 

City limits.  Some of the parcels are surrounded on all sides by land in the City limits of Green Cove 

Springs. It incorporates land into the City of Green Cove Springs that is, in fact, nearly an enclave. 

The annexation area is a compact area for extension of the existing City boundaries.  The proposed 

annexed property is located in Clay County and is not a part of any other incorporated municipality. 

The areas proposed for annexation are identified in this report and are indicated on the following 

map.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Annexation Areas 2017 

Page 50

Item #  4.



2 

 

 GENERALIZED LAND USE OF THE ANNEXED AREA 

 

The proposed annexation area is a combination of residential, commercial, industrial, and vacant 

land uses.  The predominant land uses in the proposed annexation area are industrial and 

commercial.  The largest parcel in the proposed annexation area contains a very large, currently 

vacant industrial plant.  Below is a description of each of the areas. 

 

1. Harbor Road Industrial Park – This area contains approximately 44 acres of property in 22 

parcels located north of Harbor Road, off of Enterprise Way and Virgils Way.  The Harbor 

Road Industrial Park is located across the street from the offices of the City Electric 

Department and the Harbor Road Water and Wastewater Treatment Plant. The land is 

developed as an industrial park, with a variety of manufacturing and warehouse facilities.  

 

This annexation eliminates an existing enclave and is in the City’s water/wastewater service 

area. There are 12 existing businesses in the industrial park.  The City currently provides 

water and sewer to all businesses.  Roads are paved public roads, but there is a private 

drainage system that serves the industrial park.  If the area was annexed into the City, each of 

the 22 parcels would be charged the stormwater assessment fee.  Each business would need 

to pay for a business tax license.  The City would lose approximately $6,859 in utility taxes, 

but would receive ad valorem taxes of $24,026 for the properties and a franchise fee for the 

electric service from Clay Electric.  See Exhibit #1 for details. 

 

If this area were to be annexed along with the Governors Creek/Travers Road/Gator Bay 

Road/Harbor Road, then the responsibility for Harbor Road would shift from the County to 

the City. Likewise, under City oversight, a sidewalk should then be built to connect this area 

to a City park. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 51

Item #  4.



3 

 

2. Governors Creek/Travers Road/Gator Bay Road/Harbor Road – This area is a 62-lot single 

family dwelling unit subdivision on Governors Creek Drive/Travers Road/Gator Bay Road 

and another 10 lots south of the subdivision located off of Harbor Road.  The 10 lots off of 

Harbor Road are served by Clay Electric and use wells and septic tanks for water and 

wastewater service. This annexation eliminates an existing enclave.  The area is in the City’s 

water/wastewater and electric service area. Currently, the City Utility Department provides 

water and electric service to the majority of the homes in the subdivision.  The homes are on 

septic tanks and no extension of the wastewater system would be required, until such time as 

the septic tanks begin to fail. At that time, since the area is in the City’s utility service area, 

whether in the city limits or not, the City would need to extend the wastewater lines to serve 

the subdivision.  Governors Creek Drive, Travers Road, and Gator Bay Road are all paved 

roads with drainage structures. A portion of Harbor Road is unpaved, which after annexation 

should receive consideration for paved roadway.  

 

If annexed into the City, each parcel would be subject to the stormwater assessment fee.  In 

reviewing the utility bills and ad valorem taxes for the area, the City would lose 

approximately $100 – $150 annually in utility taxes/fees per dwelling unit and will receive 

approximately $350 per homesteaded dwelling unit. See Exhibit #1 for details. 

 

If this area were to be annexed along with Harbor Road Industrial Park, then the 

responsibility would shift from the County to the City. Likewise, under City oversight, a 

sidewalk should then be built to connect this area to a City park. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52

Item #  4.



4 

 

 

3. S.R. 16 East and Bayard Conservation Area – This area is located off of S. R.16 East, west of 

the Reynolds Park.  It provides a logical extension of the City limits to the St. Johns River.  

The Bayard Conservation area located South of S.R. 16 and east of Reynolds Park is owned 

by the St. Johns River Water Management District (SJRWMD).  Conservation/Recreational 

are the only uses permitted and allowed at the Bayard Conservation area.  Annexation of the 

Bayard Conservation area will allow for connectivity with trails being constructed and 

planned within the city limits.   The Bayard Conservation area contains 10,371 acres. It is 

estimated between 1,000 to 1,500 acres would be annexed into the City.  The exact acreage 

to be annexed will be determined by further discussions with the SJRWMD.  All roads and 

stormwater system within the conservation area are private.  The area is outside of the City’s 

water, sewer, electric service area and no expansion of facilities would be required.  

 

There is no fiscal impact since no services are provided and no ad-valorem taxes would be 

generated. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 53

Item #  4.



5 

 

 

4. Hall Park Road – This is approximately 52 acres of developed industrial properties in 9 

individual parcels located off U.S. 17.  The majority of the property is owned by Vac-Con, 

Inc. or Tamko Roofing Products.  The parcels are in the City’s water and wastewater service 

area.   The City provides electric service to parcels north of Hall Park Road.  Parcels south of 

Hall Park Road are served by Clay Electric. Annexation of these properties eliminates an 

existing enclave in the City.  Since the parcels served by the City are developed, no extension 

of the water, wastewater, or electric would be required.  The public streets are paved with 

drainage structures. 

 

If the area was annexed into the City, each of the 9 parcels would be charged the stormwater 

assessment fee.  Each business would need to pay for a business tax license.  The City would 

lose approximately $15,337 in utility taxes, but would receive ad valorem taxes of $12,184 

for the properties and a franchise fee for the electric service from Clay Electric.  The ad 

valorem taxes will increase with the recent expansion of Vac-Con. See Exhibit #1 for details. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54

Item #  4.



6 

 

5. Gustafson Property – This area is the former Gustafson Dairy and contains 1,018 acres in 2 

parcels. This annexation will allow the City to have land use control over the redevelopment 

of the former Gustafson Dairy.  The property is in the City’s electric service area.   

 

The northwest corner of the property was purchased by the Green Cove, LLC in 2016 and the 

remaining portion of the property is owned by the Gustafson family.  At the 2016 assessment 

value, the City would receive approximately $3,644 in ad valorem taxes for the property.  

 

The City needs to monitor the electric load. If redevelopment occurs, it could have a 

significant impact on the electric load. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55

Item #  4.



7 

6. St. Johns Landing – This area includes 7 parcels with approximately 80 acres of land, of 

which 75 acres is in the St. Johns Landing apartment complex.  All of this area has electric 

service provided by the City.  The City also provides sewer to St. Johns Landing.  

Annexation of this area would expand the City limits to both sides of U.S. 17.  Currently 

only the west of U.S. 17 is in the city limits.  The owners of St. Johns Landing plan to 

redevelop the apartment complex.  Expansion of the water and sewer service to the area 

would be a component of the redevelopment of St. Johns Landings parcel and would be paid 

by the development.  The remaining 6 parcels are served by well and septic tanks for water 

and sewer.  Lines will be expanded to serve these development, when the redevelopment of 

St. Johns Landing occurs.  

 

Based on current utility usage and tax assessments, we would see a reduction in the utility 

taxes of $28,242, if these properties are annexed into the City, and would receive an 

additional $37,068 in ad valorem taxes.  These numbers would increase with the 

redevelopment of St. Johns Landing.  The businesses along U.S. 17 would need to obtain a 

business tax license. See Exhibit 1 for details.   

 

This annexation  would require additional law enforcement officers and should be part of the 

discussions when redevelopment occurs. 

 

Page 56

Item #  4.



8 

 

 

 

 

PROVISION OF URBAN SERVICES FOR ANNEXED AREA 

 

The City of Green Cove Springs will provide the annexed area with the same level of services it 

currently provides to areas within the City limits. The following is the plan for the urban services 

expansion. 

 

Police Protection 

The City of Green Cove Springs Police Department provides police protection to residences and 

businesses in Green Cove Springs.  The Police Department will provide the same level of service to 

any businesses or residences existing or developed in the proposed annexation area.  The Police 

Department must currently travel through the proposed annexed area to serve properties within the 

existing city limits.  The cost for the provision of police service to the annexed area will be funded 

by the General Fund of the City.  The police protection provided to the annexed area will be the same 

as the level of service provided to the businesses and residents within the existing limits. 

 

Fire and Rescue Service 

The Clay County Public Safety Department provides fire protection and rescue service to the 

residents and businesses of Green Cove Springs, and to the surrounding areas in the county. The 

provision of fire and rescue service inside the City limits occurs in accordance with an Interlocal 

agreement between Clay County and the City which began in 2002.  This agreement is renewed 

annually. The provision of fire and rescue services in the annexed area will be provided in 

accordance with the Interlocal Agreement.  These services are paid for through ad valorem taxes. 

 

Solid Waste Collection 

The City of Green Cove Springs provides solid waste collection to single family residences within 

the city limits.  Commercial customer’s contract with City approved private contractor for solid 

waste collection along with a Franchise Fee.  All residential customers are charged a solid waste 

collection fee.  All development within the proposed annexed area will be charged the same rate as 

similar customers in the existing city limits and will be provided the same level of service. 

 

Streets and Drainage 

The Florida Department of Transportation is responsible for the maintenance of the road and 

drainage for State Road 16 East and U. S. Highway 17.  The City is responsible for drainage and 

maintenance of public local roads within Green Cove Springs. Any new roads in the annexed area 

will be developed and constructed by the builder and dedicated to the City.  After annexation, the 

City will be responsible for the roadway maintenance and drainage for all public streets within the 

annexed area.  The funds required for the maintenance of streets and drainage in the annexed area 

will be funded through the General Fund. 

Page 57

Item #  4.



9 

Water and Sewer Service  

The entire area proposed for annexation is in the City of Green Cove Springs water and sewer service 

area, except for the former Gustafson property.  The City of Green Cove Springs currently provides 

water and sewer services to the majority of the areas proposed for annexation.  The City of Green 

Cove Springs has established utility service areas through interlocal agreements.  The water and 

sewer service area was established by an interlocal agreement with the Clay County Utility Authority 

(CCUA) in 1998.  The service area extends from Black Creek to County Road 209 South, south of 

Green Cove Springs. The service area includes property that is located within the city limits and 

property that is within the unincorporated Clay County.  All customers in the water and sewer service 

area, which are not within the city limits, must pay a 25% utility surcharge for service.  This charge 

would be eliminated when the property is annexed. 

 

The City of Green Cove Springs has a water treatment plant south of SR 16 East. A twelve-inch 

trunk line extends from the water treatment plant through Reynolds Industrial Park to C. R. 209 

South and north to SR 16 East through the Hall Industrial Park. Fourteen-inch water lines exist 

adjacent to the area along Industrial Park Road and Bunker Avenue.  Ten-inch water lines border 

Cary, Martin, Worthington, Roland and Bunker Avenues.  Six and eight-inch water lines serve these 

individual streets.   This potable water treatment plant currently has capacity available for additional 

proposed development in the annexation area.   

 

 

Page 58

Item #  4.



10 

The water lines in the area can be extended to serve the vacant parcels in the area proposed for 

annexation.  Extension of the water lines to any undeveloped parcels will be paid by the developer, 

as undeveloped land is developed.  However, no extension of major trunk lines is necessary at this 

time to serve existing development. 

 

The City of Green Cove Springs South waste water treatment plant (WWTP) is located between SR 

16 and Industrial Park Road South.  The South WWTP also has capacity available for additional 

proposed development. There is a twelve-inch force main that runs from east to west from SR 16 

East at Cary Avenue to U.S. 17.  A six-inch force main runs north and south along U.S. 17.  A four-

inch force main boarders the area east of U.S. 17 and south of the Industrial Park RR spur around to 

Hall Park Road.  Lift Station #32 is located at the east end of Hall Park Road.  Eight-inch gravity 

sewer lines serve the area east of the wastewater treatment plant for Cary and Worthington Avenues. 

  

 

Page 59

Item #  4.



11 

The City of Green Cove Springs also has the Harbor Road Water Treatment Plant (WTP), which 

serves the area north of the city limits and the Magnolia Point subdivision.  There is a twelve-

inch water main running along U.S. 17, north to the Black Creek Bridge, an eight-inch main, 

west on CR 315 to the railroad tracks, and a ten-inch main along the tracks to the Edgewater 

Landing subdivision.  Plans are currently underway to complete a “loop” from Edgewater 

Landing, along C. R 209, to the U. S 17, twelve-inch main.  

 

There is a twelve-inch main leading into Magnolia Point with an eight-inch main serving the 

majority of the community.  A six-inch main serves Governors Creek Drive/Travers Road/Gator 

Bay area.  The St. Johns Landing development water system and Harbor Road WTP are 

interconnected.  The twelve-inch main along U.S. 17, north of city limits, also serves 

subdivisions to the east of U.S. 17. 

 

Page 60

Item #  4.



12 

Electric Service 

Except for several small parcels located on State Road 16, the City of Green Cove Springs currently 

provides electric service to all of the area proposed for annexation.  The entire area proposed for 

annexation is in the City of Green Cove Springs electric service area which has been established by 

the Territorial Agreement with the Clay Electric Cooperative, Inc.  The service area is basically the 

same area as the water and sewer service area.  This service area also extends from Black Creek to 

C.R. 209 South, south of Green Cove Springs. The service area includes property that is located 

within the city limits and property that is within the unincorporated Clay County.     

 

Other Considerations 

Annexation will allow the City to have land use control of the annexed areas.  All fees for land 

development will be paid to the City.  All building permits will be issued by the City, increasing the 

revenues for the Building Fund.  It will also allow for “one stop permitting” for development in the 

City’s utility service area. Code enforcement would be the City’s responsibility and any potential 

code enforcement fines would be paid to the City. 

 

Gas tax, sales tax, and revenue sharing funds are based on population.  As the population increases, 

the revenue sources will also increase to offset the cost for increased police protection and right of 

way maintenance. 

 

Proposed Annexation Schedule 

Below is a proposed annexation schedule:  

 

City Council Approve Petition for Annexation and 

Direct City Attorney to Draft Ordinance     January 10, 2017 

 

Send Letter to County on Annexation     January 12, 2017 

        

1st Advertisement of Annexation in Clay Today     January 12, 2017 

     (7 days before public hearing)  

    

City Council First Reading of Annexation Ordinance   January 24, 2017 

 

 

2nd Advertisement of Annexation in Clay Today     February 2, 2017 

   (5 days before public hearing)   

   

City Council Second and Final Reading of Annexation   February 7, 2017 

IF REFERENDUM IS REQUIRED FOR ANNEXATION- PRIOR TO ORDINANCE 

BECOMING EFFECTIVE 

 

Notify Supervisor of Elections of Referendum    February 8, 2017 

 

 

Vote of the registered voters at the annexed area    April 11, 2017 

  (Regularly scheduled City Council election) 

 

Page 61

Item #  4.



13 

If referendum passes, ordinance for annexation becomes   April 21, 2017 

effective 10 days after referendum passes. 

 

This is a representative schedule only and must conform in all respects to State Statute. 

 

 

Page 62

Item #  4.



14 

EX
H

IB
IT

 1

U
TI

LI
TY

 S
A

V
IN

G
S 

C
O

M
P

A
R

IS
O

N

IN
SI

D
E 

C
IT

Y
 V

S 
O

U
TS

ID
E 

C
IT

Y

A
N

N
U

A
L

4%
D

IF
F 

C
IT

Y
 

P
O

TE
N

TI
A

L
ST

O
R

M
-

SO
LI

D
B

U
S.

SE
R

V
IC

E
EL

EC
TR

IC
FR

A
N

C
H

IS
E

W
A

TE
R

SE
W

ER
25

%
 U

TI
L

10
%

 U
TI

L
V

S 
C

TY
A

SS
ES

SS
C

IT
Y

 
W

A
TE

R
W

A
ST

E
TA

X
B

EN
EF

IT
 

A
N

N
EX

A
TI

O
N

 A
R

EA
S

P
R

O
V

ID
ED

C
H

A
R

G
ES

FE
E

C
H

A
R

G
ES

C
H

A
R

G
ES

TA
X

-W
 &

 W
WTA

X
-W

A
TE

R
U

TI
LT

II
ES

V
A

LU
E

TA
X

ES
A

SS
ES

S.
C

O
LL

EC
T.

LI
C

EN
SE

TO
 C

IT
Y

1.
 H

A
R

B
O

R
 R

O
A

D
 IN

D
U

ST
R

IA
L 

P
A

R
K

W
W

, W
W

, I
R

, F
P

$0
$0

$1
1,

29
2

$1
7,

87
1

$5
,8

33
$1

,0
27

$6
,8

59
$6

,6
73

,9
61

$
2
4
,0

2
6

$9
24

$4
,4

00
$2

,2
00

$
2
4
,6

9
1

2.
 G

A
TO

R
 B

A
Y/

H
A

R
B

O
R

 R
O

A
D

/T
R

A
V

ER
S 

R
O

A
D

 (
62

 L
O

TS
)

EL
, W

A
$8

4,
63

9
$3

,2
55

$1
4,

02
6

$0
$2

,8
05

$1
,2

75
$7

,3
36

$5
,9

00
,9

74
$2

1,
24

4
$2

,6
04

$1
3,

39
2

$0
.0

0
$2

9,
90

4

3.
 S

.R
. 1

6 
EA

ST
/B

A
YA

R
D

 C
O

N
SE

R
V

A
TI

O
N

 A
R

EA
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

4.
 H

A
LL

 P
A

R
K

 R
O

A
D

EL
,F

P
,N

L,
W

A
,W

W
$2

55
,6

97
$9

,8
35

$8
,4

80
$1

5,
17

7
$4

,7
31

$7
71

$1
5,

33
7

$3
,3

84
,3

08
$1

2,
18

4
$3

78
$4

00
$2

00
-$

2,
17

5

5.
 G

U
ST

A
FS

O
N

EL
0

0
0

0
$1

,0
12

,3
37

$3
,6

44
$8

4
$2

00
$2

00
$4

,1
28

6.
 S

T.
 J

O
H

N
S 

LA
N

D
IN

G
EL

,N
L,

IR
,W

A
,W

W
$3

65
,1

75
$1

4,
04

5
$5

02
$7

0,
25

5
$1

4,
15

1
$4

6
$2

8,
24

2
$1

0,
29

7,
07

8
$3

7,
06

9
$2

94
$1

,2
00

$5
00

$1
0,

82
1

TO
TA

L 
$7

05
,5

11
$2

7,
13

5
$3

4,
30

0
$1

03
,3

03
$2

7,
52

0
$3

,1
19

$5
7,

77
4

$2
7,

26
8,

65
8

$9
8,

16
7

$4
,2

84
$1

9,
59

2
$3

,1
00

$6
7,

36
9

N
O

TE
S:

1.
 F

R
A

N
C

H
IS

E 
FE

E 
FO

R
 C

O
M

M
ER

C
IA

L 
SO

LI
D

 E
ST

IM
A

TE
D

A
T 

$2
00

 P
ER

 C
O

M
M

ER
C

IA
L 

C
U

ST
O

M
ER

2.
 A

SS
ES

SE
D

 V
A

LU
E 

H
A

LL
 P

A
R

K
 R

O
A

D
 C

O
U

LD
 IN

C
R

EA
SE

IN
 2

01
7 

W
IT

H
 T

H
E 

EX
P

A
N

SI
O

N
 O

F 
V

A
C

-C
O

N

3.
 S

IN
C

E 
TH

E 
D

A
IR

Y 
C

LO
SE

D
, E

LE
C

TR
IC

 C
H

A
R

G
ES

 F
O

R

 G
U

ST
A

FS
O

N
 A

R
EA

4.
 T

H
E 

R
ED

EV
EL

O
P

M
EN

T 
O

F 
ST

. J
O

H
N

S 
LA

N
D

IN
G

 W
IL

L

IN
C

R
EA

SE
 T

H
E 

N
U

M
B

ER
 O

F 
U

N
IT

S 
O

N
 T

H
E 

P
R

O
P

ER
TY

 A
N

D
 

IN
C

R
EA

SE
 T

H
E 

A
SS

ES
SE

D
 V

A
LU

E 
O

F 
TH

E 
P

R
O

P
ER

TY

SE
R

V
IC

E 
P

R
O

V
ID

ED
 -

EL
 -

 E
LE

C
TR

IC
, F

P
 -

 F
IR

E 
P

R
O

TE
C

TI
O

N
, N

L-
 N

IG
H

T 
LI

G
H

T

W
A

 -
 W

A
TE

R
, W

W
 -

 W
A

ST
EW

A
TE

R
, I

R
-I

R
R

IG
A

TI
O

N

 

 

 

EXHIBIT #1 

Page 63

Item #  4.



Page 64

Item #  4.



Page 65

Item #  4.



Page 66

Item #  4.



Page 67

Item #  4.



Page 68

Item #  4.



Page 69

Item #  4.



Page 70

Item #  4.



Page 71

Item #  4.



Page 72

Item #  4.



Page 73

Item #  4.



Page 74

Item #  4.



Page 75

Item #  4.



Page 76

Item #  4.



Page 77

Item #  4.



Page 78

Item #  4.



Page 79

Item #  4.



Page 80

Item #  4.



Page 81

Item #  4.



Page 82

Item #  4.



Page 83

Item #  4.



Page 84

Item #  4.



Page 85

Item #  4.



Page 86

Item #  4.



Page 87

Item #  4.



Page 88

Item #  4.



Page 89

Item #  4.



Page 90

Item #  4.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  Planning and Zoning Commission MEETING DATE: April 27, 2021 

FROM: Michael Daniels, AICP, Planning & Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: Review of a Future Land Use Amendment request from Rural Fringe / Industrial (County) to 

Residential Low Density (RLD) for the Ayrshire Development for the Gustafson’s Cattle, 

Inc.  approximately 560.52 acres on CR 15 A, 016515-000-00 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: Ellen Avery-Smith, Esq. of Rogers 

Tower, PA 
OWNER: Gustafson’s Cattle, Inc. 

PROPERTY LOCATION: CR 15 A 

PARCEL NUMBER: 016515-000-00 

FILE NUMBER: 202001175 

CURRENT ZONING:  Agriculture (County) / Industrial Select (County) 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Rural Fringe (County) / Industrial (County) 

SURROUNDING LAND USE 

NORTH: FLU: Recreation 

Z: Recreation 

Use: Undeveloped 

SOUTH: FLU: Industrial (County) 

Z: Heavy Industrial (County) 

Use: Industrial / Undeveloped  

EAST: FLU: Industrial (County) 

Z: Heavy Industrial (County) 

Use: Industrial  

WEST: FLU: Rural Residential / Commercial / 

Agriculture (County) 

Z: Agricultural Residential / Commercial 

(County) 

Use: Single Family Homes, Commercial, 

Undeveloped 

BACKGROUND 

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION: 

The applicant, Ellen Avery Smith Esq, of Rogers Tower PA has submitted an annexation request for 560.52 

acres on behalf of her client, DR Horton, as part of their contractual agreement to purchase the property from 

Page 91

Item #  5.



the current property owner Gustafson’s Cattle Inc.  The property is located on the east side of CR 15A, west 

of the railroad tracks, south of Green Cove Avenue and north of Jersey Avenue.      

The site is located within the City’s Electric Service Boundary and will be served by the City’s electric and 

sanitation services and by the Clay County Utility Authority for water and sewer.    

The site historically was used as a dairy farm.  The dairy farm is no longer in service and the property has 

been allowed to go fallow.  The property is heavily wooded with a combination of hardwood and invasive 

species.  A large L-shaped wetland is located in the south-central portion of the property.  This request is a 

large-scale Future Land Use Amendment which, if transmitted by City Council, shall be reviewed by the 

Department of Economic Opportunity prior to City Council action on adoption.   

 

NEEDS ANALYSIS: 

Per Chapter 163.3177, Florida Statutes, need shall be based upon the amount of land designated for future 

uses and shall:  

 1) Provide a balance of uses that foster vibrant, viable communities and economic opportunities and 

address outdated development patterns, such as antiquated subdivisions; and,  

  

2) Allow the operation of real estate markets to provide adequate choices for residents and business, with 

the amount of land designated for future use not limited solely by the projected population. The minimum 

amount of land use required to accommodate at least a 10-year planning period must be included in the 

comprehensive plan.  

 

Comment: Clay County’s population within the Green Cove Springs Planning area pursuant to the Clay 

County is expected to increase by a population of 26,531 people creating a housing demand within the 

planning area of 10,851 units pursuant the Clay County 2040 Comprehensive Plan.  Based on the total 

allowable density of 4 units per acre, an additional 2,242 units can be added onsite.  There is adequate 

demand for the total number of dwelling units factoring in the projected demand from significant active 

developments such as Governors Park, Saratoga Springs etc. as set forth in the enclosed Housing Demand 

Analysis.  This request supports the projected growing population for the County by providing more 

housing options for current and future residents.  

 

Urban Sprawl Analysis 

Section 163.3177, Florida Statutes, requires that any amendment to the Future Land Use Element to 

discourage the proliferation of urban sprawl. Section 163.3177(6)(a)9.a., Florida Statutes, identifies 13 

primary urban sprawl indicators and states that, “[t]he evaluation of the presence of these indicators shall 

consist of an analysis of the plan or plan amendment within the context of features and characteristics 

unique to each locality…”   

 

An evaluation of each primary indicator is provided below.   

  

(I) Promotes, allows, or designates for development substantial areas of the jurisdiction to develop as low-

intensity, low-density, or single-use development or uses.  

 

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed amendment will amend the subject to Residential Low-Density 

Development which allows for a density up to 4 units per acre.  A companion amendment is a Future Land 

Use Site Specific Policy which will require the project to develop as a Planned Unit Development (PUD).  

The PUD permits for a more creative approach and efficient use of property.  The PUD process allows for 

a mix of housing sizes and lot widths.     

 

Page 92

Item #  5.



(II) Promotes, allows, or designates significant amounts of urban development to occur in rural areas at 

substantial distances from existing urban areas while not using undeveloped lands that are available and 

suitable for development.  

 

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located adjacent to the City of Green Cove Springs property 

which is proposed to be developed as a public park.  The project is also in close proximity to the City 

trail system.   

 

(III) Promotes, allows, or designates urban development in radial, strip, isolated, or ribbon patterns 

generally emanating from existing urban developments.   

 

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed RLD Future Land Use designation is compatible with the 

surrounding residential development such as the residential development west of CR 15A.. Residential 

areas do not typically develop in radial, strip, isolated, or ribbon patterns.  These development patterns are 

more associated with non-residential development. 

 

(IV) Fails to adequately protect and conserve natural resources, such as wetlands, floodplains, native 

vegetation, environmentally sensitive areas, natural groundwater aquifer recharge areas, lakes, rivers, 

shorelines, beaches, bays, estuarine systems, and other significant natural systems.  

 

Evaluation & Findings: The site has a significant amount of wetlands and wildlife on the property as 

provided in the environmental report provided by Carter Environmental Services.  An environmental 

impact assessment and the required permitting as required by Federal and State agencies are required.  

Providing a site-specific Future Land Use Policy requiring the project to be developed will provide for the 

ability to ensure protection of the natural resources on the property.     

 

(V) Fails to adequately protect adjacent agricultural areas and activities, including silviculture, active 

agricultural and silvicultural activities, passive agricultural activities, and dormant, unique, and prime 

farmlands and soils.  

 

Evaluation & Findings:  The surrounding property is not being used for agricultural purposes.  The dairy 

farm that was historically located on the property is no longer in service.   

 

(VI) Fails to maximize use of existing public facilities and services.  

 

Evaluation & Findings: The site is in close proximity to the City’s electric lines and the applicant shall 

be responsible for coordinating with the Clay County Utility Authority for extending water and sewer to 

the subject property.  In addition, the property is adjacent to a proposed park property which is 

complementary to the proposed residential development. 

 

(VII) Fails to maximize use of future public facilities and services.  

 

Evaluation & Findings: Any future improvements to the City’s public facilities and services will be 

utilized by the project site. 

 

(VIII) Allows for land use patterns or timing which disproportionately increase the cost in time, money, 

and energy of providing and maintaining facilities and services, including roads, potable water, sanitary 

sewer, stormwater management, law enforcement, education, health care, fire and emergency response, 

and general government.  

Page 93

Item #  5.



 

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed development will enter into a development agreement with the City 

and the Clay County School Board at the time of the zoning application to ensure that all adequate facilities 

are provided. 

 

(IX) Fails to provide a clear separation between rural and urban uses.  

 

Evaluation & Findings: The site is located within the City’s electric service area and within the City’s 

2040 Urban Area as provided in the City Comprehensive Plan.  In addition, the property was targeted for 

annexation as part of the City’s 2016 Annexation Report which was reviewed by the Department of 

Economic Opportunity and approved by City Council.   

 

(X) Discourages or inhibits infill development or the redevelopment of existing  

neighborhoods and communities.  

 

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed application shows that demand for housing units exceeds the 

current supply including when adding additional proposed development projects.  As a result, approval of 

this project will not discourage or inhibit infill development.   

 

(XI) Fails to encourage a functional mix of uses.  

 

Evaluation & Findings: The project will be required to incorporate parks sufficient to comply with the 

City’s Level of Service for recreation as set forth in Objective 6.3.4 of the Comprehensive Plan.  In addition, 

as a result of the project being developed as a PUD pursuant to the site-specific Future Land Use policy, 

addition non-residential uses such as a potential substation and school, as well as a planned park facility 

are planned to be on or near the subject property. 

 

(XII) Results in poor accessibility among linked or related land uses.  

 

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed roadway will provide access to CR 15 A and, in addition the 

applicant is proposing a road to fly over the railroad tracks and connect to US 17.  The proposed 

development shall also provide pedestrian and bike facilities to link the park areas with the residential 

areas.   

 

(XIII) Results in the loss of significant amounts of functional open space.  

 

Evaluation & Findings: As part of a PUD, the project will provide for a more efficient development 

pattern of smaller lot sizes and thereby be able to create larger open space areas.  In addition the project is 

required to comply with the City’s Level of Service requirements for recreational facilities  

 

In addition to the preceding urban sprawl indicators, Florida Statutes Section 163.3177 also establishes 

eight (8) “Urban Form” criteria. An amendment to the Future Land Use Map is presumed to not be 

considered urban sprawl if it meets four (4) of the (8) urban form criteria. These urban form criteria, and 

an evaluation of each as each may relate to this application, are provided below. The applicant has provided 

an analysis of the application’s consistency with Section 163.3177 within the application materials, and 

contends that the proposed amendment will not encourage urban sprawl by showing it meets four of the 

eight urban form criteria.  

 

Page 94

Item #  5.



Consistency with the Comprehensive Plan 
The applicant proposes to amend the FLUM Designation from the County’s Rural Fringe and Industrial to 

RLD, Residential Low Density, on the subject property. The following Comprehensive Plan Elements have 

Goals, Objectives, and Policies (GOPs) that support the proposed amendment to the Future Land Use Map 

of the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan:  

  

• Future Land Use Element  

• Transportation Element  

• Housing Element   

• Sanitary Sewer, Solid Waste, Drainage, Potable Water and Aquifer Recharge Element 

• Conservation Element 

 

Staff finds the application consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and the Goals, Objectives, and Policies 

(GOPs) therein.  A more detailed discussion, including consistency statements, of the specific goals, 

objectives, and policies is provided below.   

 

FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT 

Goal 1 
To develop and maintain land use programs and activities to provide for the most appropriate use of the land 

and direct growth to suitable areas while protecting the public, health, safety and welfare. 

 

Analysis of Consistency: The City of Green Cove Springs has had a growing need for housing as the 

population grows and the city develops. While new housing in the form of in-fill development has been 

ongoing, a large boon of housing would not be feasible with the current land area within the municipal limits. 

The annexation of the presently undeveloped proposed property will all for an appropriate use of the land, 

which extends an existing residential area of town further southward. This will be done while simultaneously 

protecting or mitigating for important natural resources on-site, as well as accounting the health, safety, and 

welfare of future citizens / residents.  The proposed development is consistent with this goal.        

 

Policy 1.1.1  

All land use decisions shall be consistent with the Conservation Element and require the analysis and/or 

coordination of the following: 

a. Size of development; 

b. Relationship and compatibility of proposed development with the adjacent and surrounding land 

uses; 

c. Compatibility and suitability of soils and topography for drainage and septic systems; 

d. Relationship to wetlands and floodplains; and 

e. Impact on adopted levels of service. 

Analysis of Consistency: The proposed development will be required to meet the City’s comprehensive plan 

and land development regulation requirements, which will ensure the size of the development is reasonable 

and works with the land, the development is compatible with surrounding land uses, the soils and topography 

are suitable for drainage systems, and the property maintains a positive relationship with wetlands maintained 

on-site. Adopted levels of services will be maintained throughout the construction of the development. 

 

 

 

Page 95

Item #  5.



Policy 1.1.3 
Development in the Conservation areas must be permitted by the Department of Environmental Protection, 

and all applicable local, state, and federal agencies, prior to receiving final approval by the City. 

 

Analysis of Consistency: The applicant is already in discussions with the appropriate agencies to ensure the 

land is developed in the best manner possible and conserved lands are maintained is good conditions, not 

impacted by development.        

 

Objective 1.2.1  
The City shall ensure that development orders are conditioned upon the provision of essential facilities and 

services which meet the established Level of Service (LOS) standards and necessary to serve the proposed 

development by reviewing each site plan/development proposal to ensure compliance with concurrency and 

do not go beyond LOS threshold.  

  

Analysis of Consistency: The property currently is undeveloped.  Adopted levels of services will be 

maintained throughout the construction of the development. 

 

Objective 1.2.2 
The City shall continue its policy for mandatory sewer and water hookups for new development.   

   

Analysis of Consistency: As part of the subdivision approval of this project, the development will be 

required to connect to CCUA’s water and sewer facilities. 

 

Policy 1.5.1  
Planned Unit Developments shall be encouraged to control growth and design. 

 

Analysis of Consistency: The applicant has presently submitted a voluntary annexation request and future 

land use amendment, but in the future will be submitting a Planned Unit Development rezoning application, 

which will allow for innovation in design as well as protection of natural resources.   

 

TRANSPORTATION ELEMENT 

Objective 2.3 Review of Proposed Development 
All future development shall be reviewed to ensure that the adopted the level of service standards 

is met and that the development is consistent with applicable land development regulations and 

supports the Future Land Use Map. 

 

Analysis of Consistency: The City and the applicant are working together to ensure the project will be 

consistent with and maintain adopted level of service standards, through review of a Traffic Study. 

 

Objective 2.8  
Site Development Traffic Circulation: The City shall require that all major developments and planned unit 

developments provide a circulation system which: provides adequate access to the major roadway network; 

provides for sound design of local and collector streets within such development; provides for the 

development of multi-use trails, and otherwise provides for the objectives and policies of the Land Use and 

Transportation Plan. 

 

Page 96

Item #  5.



Analysis of Consistency: The proposed project will be designed in accordance with City requirements for 

circulation, access, and connectivity. The applicant is considering providing a trail throughout the proposed 

subdivision to connect CR 15A to US Highway 17, which will be wide enough to support public safety and 

encourage pedestrian activity through the subdivision.   

 

Policy 2.10.4 
The City shall review development consistent with the standards in the land development regulations to 

assure that adequate provisions exist for the bicycle and pedestrian. 

 

Analysis of Consistency: As discussed above, the City is working with the applicant to ensure adequate 

provisions will be made for bicycles and pedestrians. 

 

HOUSING ELEMENT 

GOAL 3 

The City of Green Cove Springs shall make provisions for adequate and affordable housing that meets the 

physical and social needs of all segments of the current and future population of the City. 

 

Analysis of Consistency: This application would allow up to 2,242 dwelling units to be added to the housing 

market and will increase the variety of housing options within the City for its residents. The proposed lot 

sizes will also potentially increase the variety of market rate prices within the City.    

 

Objective 3.1: Adequate and Affordable Housing 
The City shall continue to assist the private sector in providing dwelling units of various types, sizes, and 

costs to meet the housing needs of the current and future residents and residents with special housing needs. 

 

Analysis of Consistency: This application permits a maximum of 2,242 residential units, supporting this 

objective to provide dwelling units of various types, sizes, and costs. 

 

Objective 3.2: Substandard Housing Conditions 
The City shall conserve the quality of the existing housing stock and work to reduce the number of 

substandard housing units each year. 

 

Analysis of Consistency: This application will allow for the development of new residential units, consistent 

with this objective. 

 

SANITARY SEWER, SOLID WASTE, DRAINAGE, POTABLE WATER, AND AQUIFER 

RECHARGE ELEMENT 

Policy 4.4.1 
The City's land development regulations shall require review of all proposed development to ensure adequate 

retention/detention of stormwater runoff to maintain surface water quality, to encourage percolation, and 

reduce impacts to drainage canals, surface water, and groundwater. The City shall require proof of obtaining 

the appropriate drainage and stormwater permits and approvals from the DEP, SJRWMD and Army Corps 

of Engineers, prior to issuing development permits. No development shall be allowed to degrade surface 

water quality below the standards set forth in Chapter 40C-42, F.A.C. and Chapter 17-25, F.A.C. 

 

Page 97

Item #  5.



Analysis of Consistency: The applicant is already working with and will continue to work with required 

agencies to ensure surface water quality is maintained, and drainage / stormwater are appropriately handled 

to best protect the environment and ensure public health and safety. 

 

CONSERVATION ELEMENT 

GOAL 5 
The City of Green Cove Springs shall conserve, utilize, and protect its natural resources to ensure that 

adequate resources are available for future generations.  

 

Analysis of Consistency: The applicant, the City, and other agencies as applicable will work together to 

ensure the protection of natural resources during development. Portions of the land will be retained as open 

space for visual enjoyment and conservation purposes. 

Page 98

Item #  5.



 Environmental Conditions Analysis 
 
Maps of Environmental Features 

 

Page 99

Item #  5.



 

 

Wetlands 

According to the National Wetlands Inventory, the majority of the property is a Freshwater Emergent 

Wetland with a small portion being a Freshwater Forested/Shrub Wetland. The developer has hired Carter 

Environmental Services who has delineated the wetlands on the property.  The developer shall be required 

to secure all required permit from the Florida Department of Environmental Protection and the St John’s  

River Water Management District prior to development approval  

 

Soils 

There are currently 8 types of soils located onsite: 

 

 Goldhead Fine Sand, which encompasses the majority of the site, is a poorly drained soil; 

 Hurricane Fine Sand is a gently sloping, somewhat poorly drained soil;  

 Sapelo Fine Sand is a gently sloping, poorly drained soil; 

 Leon Fine Sand is a gently sloping, poorly drained soil; 

 Plummer Fine Sand is a gently sloping, poorly drained soil; 

 Centenary Fine Sand is a gently sloping, moderately well drained soil; 

 Urban Land is an unranked soil; 

 Ridgewood Fine Sand is a gently sloping, somewhat poorly drained soil; 

 

 

All new development shall be required to meet the stormwater management requirements of the St John’s 

Water Management District.   

 

 

 

Page 100

Item #  5.



Flood Zones 

According to the FEMA Flood Map Service Center, the project site is located primarily within FEMA 

Flood Zone A, which has a 1% annual chance of flooding and is within the 100-year floodplain. A small 

portion on the western edge of the property within FEMA Flood Zone X, which is outside the 100-year 

floodplain.  

 

Wellfield Protection Zone 

The project site is not located within or adjacent to a wellfield protection zone. 

 

Historic Structures and Markers 

There are no historic structures or markers found on the site. 
 

Public Facilities Impact 
 

Traffic Impacts 

Land Use1 Dwelling  
Units/SF 

Daily AM Peak PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips Rate Trips 

Maximum Development 
Potential Based on  
Existing FLU  
 

Single Family Residential   
(ITE 210)* 

540* 9.57 5,168 .75 405 1.01 545 

Light Industrial  4,143,863** 6.97 28,883 .92 3,812 .97 4,020 

Total - - 34,051 - 4,217 - 4,565 

*Based on maximum density for Rural Fringe Future Land Use Designation 

**Based on 50% of maximum square footage for light industrial uses in the Industrial Future Land Use 

Designation. 

 

Land Use1 
Units 

Daily AM Peak PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips Rate Trips 

Proposed 

Single Family Residential   
(ITE 210) 

2,242 9.57 21,456 .75 1,681 1.01 2,264 

Total - - 21,456 - 1,681 - 2,264 

1. Source: Institute of Transportation Engineers: Trip Generation Manual 8h Edition 

 

Conclusion: The proposed Future Land Use Amendment would result in a decrease of potential traffic at 

the subject property as set forth in the above traffic impact table.  A traffic study for 2,100 single family 

residential units has been submitted and is being reviewed by City staff and the Florida Department of 

Transportation (FDOT) pursuant to the City’s Traffic Study Guidelines that all roadway facilities shall 

operate at the required Level of Service as set forth in the Comprehensive Plan.   

 

 

 

 

Page 101

Item #  5.



Potable Water & Sanitary Sewer Impacts 

Potable Water and Sanitary Sewer will be provided by the Clay County Utility Authority (CCUA). CCUA 

provides water and wastewater services to most residents within the unincorporated county, as well as some 

local municipalities and a portion of Bradford County. According to their 2017 Evaluation and Appraisal 

Report, Clay County determined the regional facilities serving the county are capable of meeting projected 

demand through 2040. 

 

Potable Water Impacts 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 34,000,000 

Less Actual Water Flows 11,900,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project1      697,262 
1. Source: Clay County 2040 Comprehensive Plan Exhibit C Community Facilities Element. Formula Used: 2242 dwelling units x 311 

gallons per day 

 

Conclusion: The project shall be served by the Clay County Utility Authority (CCUA).  CCUA has 

adequate capacity for the proposed demand.  The City has approved an agreement with CCUA to provide 

temporary service for up to 300 units until such time as CCUA has the facilities in place to serve the 

development.   

 

 

Sanitary Sewer Impacts  

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Projected Wastewater Demand from Proposed Project2 625,518 
1. Source: Clay County 2040 Comprehensive Plan Exhibit C Community Facilities Element. Formula Used: 2242 dwelling units x 279 

gallons per day 

 

Conclusion: The project shall be served by the Clay County Utility Authority (CCUA).  CCUA shall add 

an additional phase to the Governor’s Park Plant in order to serve this development.  The City has approved 

an agreement with CCUA to provide temporary service for up to 300 units until such time as CCUA has 

the facilities in place to serve the development.   

 

Recreation Impacts 

The Developer will be required to provide 5 acres of Recreational Space per 1,000 persons projected. 

Assuming the property is developed with the maximum number of single-family dwellings allowed per the 

proposed future land use, 2,242 units, with 2.72 persons per dwelling unit, the minimum required 

Recreational Space the developer would need to provide would be 30.5 acres.    

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

System Category LBs Per Day / Tons per Year 

Solid Waste Generated by Proposed Project1 17,806,860.8 lbs. / 8,903.43 tons 

Solid Waste Facility Capacity2 Minimum 3 Years Capacity 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: (2242 dwelling units x 2.72 persons per dwelling unit x 8 

lbs. per day) x 365 
2. Source: Clay County Comprehensive Plan 

 

Conclusion:  The City of Green Cove Springs’ solid waste is disposed of at the Rosemary Hill Solid Waste 

Management Facility operated by Clay County.  Per the Clay County Comprehensive Plan, a minimum of 

three (3) years capacity shall be maintained at the County’s solid waste management facility.  The estimated 

Page 102

Item #  5.



impacts from the proposed development are not expected to negatively impact the City’s adopted LOS or 

exceed the County solid waste management facility’s capacity. 

 

Public School Facilities Impact 

 

Conclusion: The School District of Clay County has provided a school capacity determination which is 

included in this document.  The report shows that there is no capacity for Elementary Schools and partial 

capacity for Junior High Schools with the School Concurrency Service Areas.  

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of the Future Land Use Amendment from Rural Fringe (County) and Industrial 

(County) to Residential Low Density.   

Staff recommends approval of the Site-Specific Policy Amendment regarding development restrictions for 

the proposed Future Land Use Amendment. 

 

 
 
 

Page 103

Item #  5.



 

  
 
 
Project Name:  Ayrshire PUD 
 
Property Address: Green Cove Springs 
 
Owner/Developer:  
 
 

 
There is No (Senior High) or Partial capacity (Elementary, Junior High) within the SCSA. 

There is No capacity for Elementary School within the Contiguous SCSA, there is partial capacity within the contiguous SCSA for JH and 
there is capacity within the contiguous SCSA for high school. To move forward with Concurrency; proportionate share mitigation terms 

agreed to by the applicant should be initiated. 
Capacity figures from the table above will be reflected in subsequent updates to each school Development Review  

 

 

 

James F. Fossa 

Coordinator; Planning and Intergovenmental Affairs 

School Board of Clay County 

Ph: (904) 284-6516   e-mail: james.fossa@myoneclay.net  

 

Dwelling Type 
Dwelling 

units 
Impact 

Fee 
Impact Fee 
extended 

 
Student Generation Rate:  Ed Fac Plan 2020-2021 

Single Family 1886 $7,034  $13,266,124 0.2122 0.0644 0.1333    

MultiFam attached 214 $3,226 $690,364 0.1238 0.0417 0.0822   

 
 
SCHOOL CONCURRENCY SERVICE AREAS (SCSA) ANALYSIS 

   

 

 

School 
School 

Capacity 
(FISH) 

LOS 
Capacity 
(110%) 

Students 
Enrolled 
(Mar ‘21) 

Reserved 
plus 

contiguous 
service area 

Available 
Capacity 

Project’s 
Impact 

 
Seats to 
Mitigate 

Bus 
required 

CE Bennett ES 804 884 640 24 No 422 202 Y 

Green Cove Spgs JH 922 1014 812 177 No 130 105 Y 

Clay High School  1892 2081 1688 517 No 270 270 Y 

       

 

 CONTIGUOUS 
(SCSA)       

 

 

School 
School 

Capacity 
(FISH) 

LOS 
Capacity 
(110%) 

Students 
Enrolled 
(Mar ‘21) 

Reserved 
plus 

contiguous 
service area 

Available 
Capacity 

Project’s 
Impact 

 
Seats to 
Mitigate 

Bus 
required 

Paterson ES 1105 1216 1140 136 No 422 422  

Lake Asbury JH 1334 1467 1081 265 Partial 130 9 

 Fleming Isl HS 2375 2612 2160 61 Yes 270 0  

Clay County District Schools 

Development Review   

Impact study dated: 22 April 2021 
 

Page 104

Item #  5.



Page 105

Item #  5.



Page 106

Item #  5.



Page 107

Item #  5.



Page 108

Item #  5.



Page 109

Item #  5.



Page 110

Item #  5.



Page 111

Item #  5.



Page 112

Item #  5.



Page 113

Item #  5.



Page 114

Item #  5.



Page 115

Item #  5.



Page 116

Item #  5.



Page 117

Item #  5.



Page 118

Item #  5.



Page 119

Item #  5.



Page 120

Item #  5.



Page 121

Item #  5.



Page 122

Item #  5.



Page 123

Item #  5.



Page 124

Item #  5.



Page 125

Item #  5.



Page 126

Item #  5.



Page 127

Item #  5.



Page 128

Item #  5.



Page 129

Item #  5.



Page 130

Item #  5.



Page 131

Item #  5.



Page 132

Item #  5.



Page 133

Item #  5.



Page 134

Item #  5.



Page 135

Item #  5.



Page 136

Item #  5.



Page 137

Item #  5.



Page 138

Item #  5.



Page 139

Item #  5.



Page 140

Item #  5.



Page 141

Item #  5.



Page 142

Item #  5.



Page 143

Item #  5.



Page 144

Item #  5.



Page 145

Item #  5.



Page 146

Item #  5.



Page 147

Item #  5.



Page 148

Item #  5.



Page 149

Item #  5.



Page 150

Item #  5.



Page 151

Item #  5.



Page 152

Item #  5.



Page 153

Item #  5.



Page 154

Item #  5.



Page 155

Item #  5.



Page 156

Item #  5.



Page 157

Item #  5.



Page 158

Item #  5.



Page 159

Item #  5.



Page 160

Item #  5.



Page 161

Item #  5.



Page 162

Item #  5.



Page 163

Item #  5.



Page 164

Item #  5.



Page 165

Item #  5.



Page 166

Item #  5.



Page 167

Item #  5.



Page 168

Item #  5.



Page 169

Item #  5.



Page 170

Item #  5.



Page 171

Item #  5.



Page 172

Item #  5.



Page 173

Item #  5.



Page 174

Item #  5.



Page 175

Item #  5.



Page 176

Item #  5.



Page 177

Item #  5.



Page 178

Item #  5.



Page 179

Item #  5.



Page 180

Item #  5.



Page 181

Item #  5.



Page 182

Item #  5.



Page 183

Item #  5.



Page 184

Item #  5.



Page 185

Item #  5.



Page 186

Item #  5.



Page 187

Item #  5.



Page 188

Item #  5.



Page 189

Item #  5.



Page 190

Item #  5.



Page 191

Item #  5.



Page 192

Item #  5.



Page 193

Item #  5.



Page 194

Item #  5.



Page 195

Item #  5.



Page 196

Item #  5.



Page 197

Item #  5.



Page 198

Item #  5.



Page 199

Item #  5.



Page 200

Item #  5.



Page 201

Item #  5.



Page 202

Item #  5.



Page 203

Item #  5.



Page 204

Item #  5.



Page 205

Item #  5.



Page 206

Item #  5.



Page 207

Item #  5.



Page 208

Item #  5.



Page 209

Item #  5.



Page 210

Item #  5.



Page 211

Item #  5.



Page 212

Item #  5.



Page 213

Item #  5.



Page 214

Item #  5.



Page 215

Item #  5.



Page 216

Item #  5.



Page 217

Item #  5.



Page 218

Item #  5.



Page 219

Item #  5.



Page 220

Item #  5.



Page 221

Item #  5.



Page 222

Item #  5.



Page 223

Item #  5.



Page 224

Item #  5.



Page 225

Item #  5.



Page 226

Item #  5.



Page 227

Item #  5.



Page 228

Item #  5.



Page 229

Item #  5.



Page 230

Item #  5.



Page 231

Item #  5.



Page 232

Item #  5.



Page 233

Item #  5.



Page 234

Item #  5.



Page 235

Item #  5.



Page 236

Item #  5.



Page 237

Item #  5.



Page 238

Item #  5.



Page 239

Item #  5.



Page 240

Item #  5.



Page 241

Item #  5.



Page 242

Item #  5.



Page 243

Item #  5.



Page 244

Item #  5.



Page 245

Item #  5.



Page 246

Item #  5.



Page 247

Item #  5.



Page 248

Item #  5.



Page 249

Item #  5.



Page 250

Item #  5.



Page 251

Item #  5.



Page 252

Item #  5.



Page 253

Item #  5.



Page 254

Item #  5.



Page 255

Item #  5.



Page 256

Item #  5.



Page 257

Item #  5.



Page 258

Item #  5.



Page 259

Item #  5.



Page 260

Item #  5.



Page 261

Item #  5.



Page 262

Item #  5.



Page 263

Item #  5.



Page 264

Item #  5.



Page 265

Item #  5.



Page 266

Item #  5.



Page 267

Item #  5.



Page 268

Item #  5.



Page 269

Item #  5.



Page 270

Item #  5.



Page 271

Item #  5.



Page 272

Item #  5.



Page 273

Item #  5.



Page 274

Item #  5.



Page 275

Item #  5.



Page 276

Item #  5.



Page 277

Item #  5.



Page 278

Item #  5.



Page 279

Item #  5.



Page 280

Item #  5.



Page 281

Item #  5.



Page 282

Item #  5.



Page 283

Item #  5.



Page 284

Item #  5.



Page 285

Item #  5.



Page 286

Item #  5.



Page 287

Item #  5.



Page 288

Item #  5.



Page 289

Item #  5.



Page 290

Item #  5.



Page 291

Item #  5.



Page 292

Item #  5.



Page 293

Item #  5.



Page 294

Item #  5.



Page 295

Item #  5.



Page 296

Item #  5.



Page 297

Item #  5.



Page 298

Item #  5.



Page 299

Item #  5.



Page 300

Item #  5.



Page 301

Item #  5.



Page 302

Item #  5.



Page 303

Item #  5.



Page 304

Item #  5.



Page 305

Item #  5.



Page 306

Item #  5.



Page 307

Item #  5.



Page 308

Item #  5.



Page 309

Item #  5.



Page 310

Item #  5.



Page 311

Item #  5.



Page 312

Item #  5.



Page 313

Item #  5.



Page 314

Item #  5.



Page 315

Item #  5.



Page 316

Item #  5.



Page 317

Item #  5.



Page 318

Item #  5.



Page 319

Item #  5.



Page 320

Item #  5.



Page 321

Item #  5.



Page 322

Item #  5.



Page 323

Item #  5.



Page 324

Item #  5.



Page 325

Item #  5.



Page 326

Item #  5.



Page 327

Item #  5.



Page 328

Item #  5.



Page 329

Item #  5.



Page 330

Item #  5.



Page 331

Item #  5.



Page 332

Item #  5.



Page 333

Item #  5.



Page 334

Item #  5.



Page 335

Item #  5.



Page 336

Item #  5.



Page 337

Item #  5.



Page 338

Item #  5.



Page 339

Item #  5.



Page 340

Item #  5.



Page 341

Item #  5.



Page 342

Item #  5.



Page 343

Item #  5.



Page 344

Item #  5.



Page 345

Item #  5.



Page 346

Item #  5.



Page 347

Item #  5.



Page 348

Item #  5.



Page 349

Item #  5.



Page 350

Item #  5.



Page 351

Item #  5.



Page 352

Item #  5.



Page 353

Item #  5.



Page 354

Item #  5.



Page 355

Item #  5.



Page 356

Item #  5.



Page 357

Item #  5.



Page 358

Item #  5.



Page 359

Item #  5.



Page 360

Item #  5.



Page 361

Item #  5.



Page 362

Item #  5.



Page 363

Item #  5.



Page 364

Item #  5.



Page 365

Item #  5.



Page 366

Item #  5.



Page 367

Item #  5.



Page 368

Item #  5.



Page 369

Item #  5.



Page 370

Item #  5.



Page 371

Item #  5.



Page 372

Item #  5.



Page 373

Item #  5.



Page 374

Item #  5.



Page 375

Item #  5.



Page 376

Item #  5.



Page 377

Item #  5.



Page 378

Item #  5.



Page 379

Item #  5.



Page 380

Item #  5.



Page 381

Item #  5.



Page 382

Item #  5.



Page 383

Item #  5.



Page 384

Item #  5.



Page 385

Item #  5.



Page 386

Item #  5.



Page 387

Item #  5.



Page 388

Item #  5.



Page 389

Item #  5.



Page 390

Item #  5.



Page 391

Item #  5.



Page 392

Item #  5.



Page 393

Item #  5.



Page 394

Item #  5.



Page 395

Item #  5.



Page 396

Item #  5.



Page 397

Item #  5.



Page 398

Item #  5.



Page 399

Item #  5.



Page 400

Item #  5.



Page 401

Item #  5.



Page 402

Item #  5.



Page 403

Item #  5.



Page 404

Item #  5.



Page 405

Item #  5.



Page 406

Item #  5.



Page 407

Item #  5.



Page 408

Item #  5.



Page 409

Item #  5.



Page 410

Item #  5.



Page 411

Item #  5.



Page 412

Item #  5.



Page 413

Item #  5.



Page 414

Item #  5.



Page 415

Item #  5.



Page 416

Item #  5.



Page 417

Item #  5.



Page 418

Item #  5.



Page 419

Item #  5.



Page 420

Item #  5.



Page 421

Item #  5.



Page 422

Item #  5.



Page 423

Item #  5.



Page 424

Item #  5.



Page 425

Item #  5.



Page 426

Item #  5.



Page 427

Item #  5.



Page 428

Item #  5.



Page 429

Item #  5.



Page 430

Item #  5.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  Planning & Zoning Commission MEETING DATE: April 27, 2021 

FROM: Michael Daniels, AICP, Planning & Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: Online Comprehensive Map Update 
 

BACKGROUND 

The City of Green Cove Springs was awarded a Community Planning Technical Assistance Grant by 

Florida’s Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO) for the creation and deployment of an online 

comprehensive mapping system. After completing the bid process, the City contracted with Geographic 

Technologies Group (GTG) to bring the project to fruition. In accordance with the grant requirements, the 

project will be finalized in approximately June (2021), however, it is moving rapidly forward. 

The scope of the Green Cove Springs GeoHub currently includes: 

1. Web Applications – Example Link 

a. An all-inclusive application (utilizing all available layers so applicants / citizens may see 

as much or as little data as they want at once) 

b. Future Land Use, Zoning, and Existing Land Use application 

c. Capital Improvement Projects Application 

d. Utility Services Information Application 

e. Transportation Network and Real-Time Traffic Data Application 

f. Emergency Services and Real-time Weather Application 

g. Storm Damage Assessment (FEMA Reporting) Application 

h. Parks, Recreation, Natural Resource, and Environmental Application 

i. Building Permit / Code Enforcement Case Application(s) 

j. Curbside Service Application 

k. Hurricane Tracking Application 

2. Story Map – Example Link, Example Link 2  

a. History of Green Cove Springs (or similar) 

3. Dashboards – Example Link 

a. Capital Improvement Projects (or other) 

4. Open Data – Example Link 

a. Searchable, downloadable versions of data available in public-facing web applications 

5. Map Gallery 

a. PDF copies of maps 

City Staff are working closely with GTG to provide required data and provide feedback on their project 

samples as they are built. 

 

 

Page 431

Item #  6.

https://tlcgis.leoncountyfl.gov/LandInfoPublic/
https://tlcgis.maps.arcgis.com/apps/MapJournal/index.html?appid=f44a359c02194829be82e8a45c710e6d
https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/1c07cd90c937407dad2232d1a00c35c8
https://cofpf.maps.arcgis.com/apps/opsdashboard/index.html#/c364fd002162471883798382cf81b26f
https://geodata-tlcgis.opendata.arcgis.com/search?collection=Dataset


The GeoHub currently resembles the following  screenshot.  

 

 

Staff are extremely excited to provide comprehensive, accessible data to the public and ease the spread of 

information between departments, especially during emergency situations, such as hurricanes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 432

Item #  6.



A sneak peak at the Zoning & Land Use Map Application 

 

 

Staff will bring the hub up on screen at the meeting to show currently available features and get your 

feedback on them. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

N/A 

RECOMMENDATION 

N/A – Informational item only. 
 

Page 433

Item #  6.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  Planning & Zoning Commission MEETING DATE: April 27, 2021 

FROM: Michael Daniels, AICP, Planning & Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: S&ME – Comprehensive Plan Update 
 

BACKGROUND 

S&ME will make a presentation during the meeting. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

N/A 

RECOMMENDATION 

N/A – Informational item only. 
 

Page 434

Item #  7.


	Top
	Item #  1.	PZB: Minutes - 2021/02/23
	2021-02-23_PZB

	Item #  2.	PZB: FLUM Amendment 200-206 S Orange Ave
	Staff Report_200-206 S Orange CBD FLUM
	APP_FLUM

	Item #  3.	PZB: Rezoning 200-206 S Orange Ave
	Staff Report_200-206 S Orange CBD Zoning
	APP_Rezoning

	Item #  4.	PZB: Ayrshire Annexation 016515-000-00
	Staff Report_Annexation
	Annexation Report  2016 for Council.2
	Annexation Application

	Item #  5.	PZB: Ayrshire FLU Amendment
	Staff Report_Ayrshire FLU RLD_md
	DRC Ayrshire PUD school concurrency
	Responses to Comments for Ayrshire Future Land Use Amendment_Planned Unit Development_Development Agreement
	Application_LsCPA_03232021

	Item #  6.	PZB: Online Comprehensive GIS Map
	Staff Report_PZB_20210427

	Item #  7.	PZB: Comprehensive Plan 2045 Update Presentation
	Staff Report_PZB_20210427

	Bottom

